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MEMORANDUM
TO:

Board of Commissioners
FROM:
Planning and Development Staff

DATE:

February 24, 2004
SUBJECT:
Request for waivers and variances from Sections of Chapter 18 of the Town of Nags Head Code of Ordinances (subdivision chapter) and consideration of preliminary subdivision plat.
ZONING:
R-2 Medium Density Residential District
BACKGROUND:
Ms. Colleen Oaksmith, represented by Seaboard Surveying and Planning, has submitted a preliminary subdivision plat and accompanying subdivision waiver and variance request for property she owns located at the terminus of a existing 20 foot wide private right-of-way located south of Soundside Road.  The property for which application is being made consists of two (2) existing lots having a combined total area of 81,484 square feet.  The applicant’s request is to further subdivide the property to create one (1) additional lot resulting in a total of three (3) lots.  By virtue of the applicant's own application request and preliminary plat survey, only two (2) legal lots of record exist. 

On November 5, 2003 the Board of Commissioners first heard the subdivision waiver request from Ms. Oaksmith.  At this meeting the Board of Commissioners determined that when the Planning Board originally considered this request on October 21, 2003 they failed to make the required findings of fact to either recommend granting or denying the applicant’s request. On November 18, 2003 the Planning Board members heard Ms. Oaksmith’s requests again and recommended denial of the requests because they could not make the necessary findings of fact to demonstrate hardship on the applicant’s part. On December 3, 2003 the Board of Commissioners reviewed the Planning Boards decision and briefly discussed several alternative lot and access layout options for the parcels presented by the applicant. The Board of Commissioners chose not to take action on the waiver request other than to request of the applicant to submit a single final plat and waiver request for the Board’s final consideration.  Another plat was received from the applicant on January 7, 2004 and was placed on the Board’s January 21, 2004 meeting agenda. However, at the applicant’s request this matter was removed from the agenda.  Additional changes have been made to the request in a resubmittal received from the applicant which is now before the Board again for final action. 

Staff Comments:

Although the attached plat shows some relatively minor changes from the last plat the applicant submitted for the Board’s review, staff’s issues and concerns presented in the remainder of this memorandum are essentially the same as those expressed in previous memorandums.  Staff maintains that the applicant has not shown a compelling nor unique hardship to justify the granting of the requested waivers to subdivide and develop lots without providing for the street, right-of-way, and utility improvement required under Chapter 18 of the Town of Nags Head Code of Ordinances.  While the latest waiver request repeatedly refers to “special, unique circumstances”, “extraordinary and unnecessary hardship”, “physical limitations” and “substantial injustice”, it nonetheless fails to specifically identify and give example of what these circumstances, hardships, limitations and injustices are, or how they are distinguishably different from other property owners similarly situated.  The mere act of making these repetitive statements is not evidence that such conditions actually exist. The making of such findings are requisite in the approval of the waiver and variance request, and the approval of the proposed preliminary subdivision plat as presented is wholly dependant upon the approval of the requested waivers and variances.  Both the Public Works and Public Safety Departments have various concerns with the attached subdivision plat.  The Planning Department concurs with each Department’s concerns and recommendation in their entirety. In addition, below is a list of deficiencies Planning staff has identified after reviewing the applicant’s revised preliminary plat and waiver request:  
· Recording this plat as presented, prior to the demolition or relocation of the existing structure shown on Lot 1 would create a zoning structural nonconformity in that the existing house would have a front yard setback of 16 feet as opposed to 30 feet as required in the R-2 zoning district.  Under Survey Note 16, the applicant desires the existing home to remain on said lot until a certificate of occupancy for a new dwelling on the same lot is issued.  The relocation or removal of existing structures that would have otherwise resulted in the creation of a zoning nonconformity has been required of other subdivision applicants and staff strongly recommends against the creation of any zoning structural nonconformities through actions taken on subdivision variance or waiver requests.  One of the specific findings of Section 18-10 provides that the subdivision variations being sought will not have the effect of nullifying the intent and purposes of the zoning ordinance.  Staff maintains that Note 16 is contrary to and in absolute conflict with the intent, purposes and requirements the zoning ordinance.
· The cul-de-sac shown on the proposed plat does meet the required design standard for a 50-foot cul-de-sac radius for an environmental street, but it does not meet the construction requirements for this classification of street. As shown, the applicant is only proposing the improvement of the cul-de-sac with gravel as opposed to pavement.  Public Works has determined that the proposed gravel surfacing will create a constant maintenance problem for the Town.  The proposed gravel construction would be especially problematic and deficient in handling sanitation vehicles which operate at a gross vehicle weight of up to 75,000 pounds.  Public Works recommends that any street construction adhere to the Town’s Local Street Standard which provides for 2 inches of asphalt pavement.
· Note 8 on the survey reads “All future development shall comply with the Nags Head Zoning Ordinance, Zone R-2, unless otherwise noted hereon.”  The plat further states that the development of the proposed lots will be limited to five (5) bedroom detached single-family dwellings.  While there is limitation on the number of bedrooms, there is no limitation on the actual size or square footage of the proposed dwellings.  With each of the proposed lots being greater than 16,000 square feet, single family dwellings up to 5,000 square feet could be built on each lot under current Code requirements.  Under the provisions of a current zoning ordinance amendment presently under consideration that would permit homes greater than 5,000 square feet in size based upon lot area, Lot 3 being the largest of the three proposed lots, could have a maximum dwelling size of 6,247 square feet.  Staff contends that the potential for more development impacts such as traffic, road maintenance, stormwater runoff, and visual impacts is greater from three development lots than from the two existing lots.  Staff would also suggest caution with the idea of exchanging or reducing development rights under zoning ordinance as a means to compensate for something that plainly doesn’t satisfy the basic criteria of the subdivision ordinance. The rights afforded under one section of the Code should not be used as a bargaining tool to in effect release a property owner from having to comply with other sections of the Code.   
Additionally, staff finds that the physical condition of the property and any development restraints related thereto is not uniquely uncommon or uncharacteristically different from that as experienced by many other property owners.  Moreover, the applicant in her request refers to the desire to minimize development impacts so as to protect the environmental balance and maintain the character of the surrounding area.  Staff maintains that the act of creating the third new development lot as proposed by the applicant is a major contributor to these additional unwanted impacts.  The way to mitigate these unwanted impacts is to adhere to the development standards and limitations imposed by the ordinance, which by deliberate design were put into place to prevent such impacts.  While staff is amenable to the idea of limited waivers and variances to allow the reasonable use of the existing two (2) legal lots of record, staff does not find reason or logic in sanctioning the creation of an additional development lot that would be contrary to the ordinance and would be a contributing factor to additional undesirable development impacts.
Staff recommendation:

Planning and Development, Public Safety and Public Works Departments have considered this request and have not varied from the original recommendations against the granting of the requested waivers and variances for required street and utility improvements as required by the Subdivision Ordinance. At the crux of the Board’s decision in regards to the consideration of the requested waivers and variances is the making of the requisite findings set forth in the Code.  Affirmative findings must be made that the property owner suffers from an extraordinary and unnecessary hardship resulting from the strict application of the regulations on the subject property.  This hardship must arise from a special circumstance or condition of the property.  Moreover, even when such circumstances are found to be present, it must still be further found that the granting of the waiver or variance will not be contrary to the public interest, will not nullify the intent and purposes of the master plan or zoning ordinance, and be determined that the provision of required improvements is not requisite in the interest of public health safety and welfare.  Staff maintains that the applicant’s request does not provide evidence of the presence of these conditions, that the request would be contrary to public health and safety if granted, would violate the terms and intent of the zoning ordinance, that the request is more in keeping with a special privilege or convenience being sought by the applicant as opposed to unnecessary and undue hardship denying the property owner reasonable use of the property, and therefore does not satisfy the criteria of the Code for approval action.  Staff maintains that the property owner not only has reasonable use of the existing property, but perhaps even profitable use of the property, and that such situation does not begin to rise to the level of hardship required for the granting of waivers and variances.
In conclusion Staff finds that the applicant has failed to make an affirmative case satisfying the variance and waiver criteria set forth under Code Section 18-10 and therefore recommends that the waiver request be denied and that the applicant be required to provide all public street right-of-way and street improvements and utility improvements necessary to support the proposed subdivision in accordance with Chapter 18 of the Town Code.  Staff furthermore recommends the denial of the preliminary plat in that any action approving the proposed plat was entirely dependant upon the approval of the accompanying waiver request and that the plat as presented and standing alone does not meet minimum ordinance standards. 
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